## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GABBY TENNIS,	)
	)
Petitioner,	)
	)
vs.	)
	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
	)
Respondent.	)
	)

CASE NO. SC06-730

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida [Criminal Division]

> CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Attorney for Gabby Tennis Criminal Justice Building 421 3<sup>rd</sup> Street/6<sup>th</sup> Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4203 (561) 355-7600 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

## **

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. The parties will be refferred to as they appear before this court:

"R" will denote the record on appeal which has 8 volumes and 1014 pages.

"T" will denote the transcript pages contained in 33 volumes with 1678 pages.

"SR" will denote the supplemental record which has 4 volumes and 435 pages.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 6, 2003, Appellant, Gabby Tennis, was charged by indictment for first degree felony murder with the underlying felonies of burglary, robbery, and aggravated abuse of an elderly person or disabled adult R10.

At the close of the state's case, Appellant moved for a judgement of acquittal T978-79, 984. The trial court granted the judgment of acquittal as to the elderly person or disabled adult charge T981. The trial court denied the other motions T984. Appellant was found guilty of felony murder R381, 387.

The jury's recommendation was 8-4 for the death penalty R438. On April 16, 2006, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death R523-531. A timely notice of appeal was filed R533. This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The following are the facts relevant to this appeal.

On June 2, 2003, the body of Albert Vassella was found in his residence T505. The house appeared to have been ransacked T533. Vassella's head was adjacent to a bookcase T617. Blood was found around Vassella T551. There was blood spatter by the bookcase T600-601. The blood spatter indicated more than one blow T610. A denture was found near the body in the area of the bookcase T547. The phone on the desk was unplugged T539. There were no signs of forced entry T549. A gun was found in a drawer that was taken out from a hutch T581.

A black Mercury automobile belonging to Liza Boltos tested positive for blood T578. There was an indication of blood on Boltos steering wheel T583. Phone records showed that Boltos called Vassella five times on the day he died T920.

Possible shoeprints were found in the residence T609. One shoe print was on the thigh of Vassella T609. Patent shoeprints were found on papers in the living room T616.

One print of Sophia Adams was found in the northwest corner of the living room T63. Another print of Adams was found on the top left side drawer T635. Adams' print was also found on a dresser drawer in the southeast bedroom T635. Adams' print was found on the door jam of the southeast bedroom T635.

Twenty-one prints of value that did not match anyone were taken from the scene T646. 134 prints of no value were taken from the scene T646. Appellant's fingerprints were found on the phone on the desk and on a dresser east of the kitchen T632-33. Two

of Appellant's prints were found on a buffet drawer in the dining room T633. Three of Appellant's prints were found on the top filing cabinet in the southeast bedroom T633. Five of Appellant's prints were taken from a dresser drawer in the northeast bedroom T633. Two of Appellant's prints were taken from a filing cabinet in the southwest bedroom T633. Another print was taken from a desk drawer in the southwest bedroom T633. A total of seventeen prints of Appellant were in the house T635.

Liza Boltos testified Vassella was a friend and he would give her money for cleaning his house T649-50. Sophia Adams was Boltos' daughter T648. Boltos received \$6,000 for Adams marrying at the age of 14 T651-3. However, Adams' husband cheated on her and beat her T654. Adams returned home T654. Boltos returned some of the money, but still owed some money T655. Sophia sold flowers on the street and Boltos supported herself by cleaning houses T656. Appellant and Adams slept in a truck which Appellant kept at the side of Boltos' house T660. The total courtship between Appellant and Adams lasted two weeks T683.

Boltos testified she had called Appellant's father and informed him that Appellant had eloped with Sophia Adams T663. It was part of their culture that someone had to pay for Adams T665. Boltos wanted 3 to 5 thousand dollars T666. Boltos told Appellant someone had to pay for Adams T666. Boltos asked Appellant to call his father T666. Appellant told his father he needed help to pay for Adams T667. Appellant's father would curse and hangup T667. Boltos did not tell Appellant he had to pay T695. Boltos has a history of problems with Appellant's family T689. Boltos testified she might have called Albert Vassella a number of times on May 31, 2003 to tell him she was coming over T692, 694. Phone records introduced into evidence showed that Boltos called Vassella 8 times that day R568. Vassella had Boltos' phone number written near his telephone T692. Boltos testified Vassella did not have any money and she did not set him up T695. When Vassella gave Boltos money he retrieved it from his drawer near his phone T691.

Boltos testified she last saw Vassella days before his death T691. Appellant dropped Boltos at Vassella's house T663. Appellant did not go in the house T663. Boltos believed Vassella had money T663. Boltos never told Appellant this T663. Boltos went to Vassella's house for money T663. Appellant had dropped Boltos off 24 days before he left town T673. Boltos accused Appellant of kidnaping Adams to the media T676. Boltos knew Adams had run away and was not kidnaped T677. A couple of days after Adams had left with Appellant she asked for money T674-75. Boltos told Adams that police were questioning her T675. Boltos testified that they all wore sneakers T677. Boltos is under criminal charges of exploitation of the elderly T686.

Sophia Adams testified she had a relationship with Appellant 2 to 3 months before the death of Vassella T716. Adams was married to another T716. Adams' mother had arranged the marriage T716. Adams was really close to Appellant and stayed at Adams' house T717. Adams mother wanted to be paid T719. Appellant's family had to make the payment T717. Adams never heard Appellant ask his family for money T770. Appellant said he would get money by working roofing with his father T721. Adams testified she went to Vassella's house one time with her mother T721. Adams helped her mother clean Vassella's house T721. Adams never went to Vassella's house to borrow money T722. Adams testified that she and Appellant never dropped Boltos off at Vassella's house T724.

Adams testified that she and Appellant got into an argument and took a walk T723. The day before Appellant mentioned he needed an alternator for his truck T723. Appellant said he had to stop at a friend's house to use a phone book to get an alternator for his truck T724. They stopped at Vassella's house T725. Appellant knocked and Vassella came to the door T725. They greeted one another as if they knew each other T725. Vassella told Appellant to come inside T727. Adams also came inside T722. Appellant looked through a phone book and Vassella sat next to him T727, 729. Appellant got up and punched Vassella in the forehead T729. The two men started tussling T729. Appellant picked Vassella up by the shoulders and threw him into a bookcase T729. Vassella said I let you into my house and I don't believe you did this to me T730. Appellant told Adams to shut up and to shut the door T730. Appellant wanted to know where the money was and threatened to kill if he wasn't told where it was located T730. Appellant told Adams to look for money T731.

Adams testified she went around the house looking for something to give Appellant T732. Appellant used the heel of his foot and stomped Vassella's head T732. Appellant did it once or twice to get Vassella from getting up T732. Vassella tried to "dodge the hits" from Appellant T732. Adams saw Appellant use his foot 7 or 8 times and Vassella

tried to avoid these blows T733. Appellant would hit Vassella with his foot and go around and look for money T734.

Adams testified she searched the house for 5 or 10 minutes T734. Adams looked through a cabinet and opened a door and found a gun T735. Adams thinks Appellant saw the gun T736. Three or four times Appellant went to other parts of the house and returned to threaten Vassella T736. Appellant took a little coin box from the dresser where the phone was located T737. Adams testified she did not do anything to help appellant T737.

Adams testified appellant said it was time to leave T738. Vassella was in a pool of blood T739. Adams could hear Vassella breathing T739. Appellant had blood on his sneakers and pants T739. Appellant was wearing Tommy Hilfiger Classics T740. Adams was wearing slippers T741. Adams and Appellant walked to Publix to get a taxi T741. They then went home T741.

Adams testified that she and Appellant sat in his truck a couple of hours and talked about what happened T742. Adams wanted to go the police T742. Appellant said Adams would go to jail for aggravated battery on an elderly person T742. Appellant threatened Adams and her family if she went to the police T742. Appellant said they would sell his truck and then leave T742. The night of the attack Adams and Appellant stayed at Adams' friend's house T748. The day after, Adams and Appellant were stopped in Georgia T744. They drove to Columbus, Ohio, where they stayed with Appellant's family T747. Appellant was given a pair of Nike Jordans and Adams thinks he left his old sneakers there T749. They then went to Chicago where they would be arrested T757.

Adams testified her mother did not direct her and Appellant to Vassella T759. Adams was not present when her mother made numerous calls to Vassella on the day of the murder T760. The whole incident was a surprise T777. However, once it began happening Adams chose not to leave T777. Adams left with Appellant because she was afraid of him T779. Adams characterized it as a kidnaping by Appellant T780. Adams didn't feel calling the police was an option T750. Adams believed Appellant's family would hurt her family T750. Adams did not try to seek help even when she separated from Appellant T783. Appellant told her that she was incriminated by her prints on the gun T784. Adams testified she did not call her mother and ask for money T786. Adams testified they all wore Tommy Hilfiger Classics T784. Adams claims not to have worn them that day at Vassella's residence T784.

Officer Adam Storey of the Tifton Police Department testified he observed Appellant sleeping inside a Plymouth Acclaim at a Holiday Inn parking lot at 11:27 p.m. on June 1, 2003 T702-705. Appellant identified himself as Tony Adams but was unable to produce identification T705. Sophia Adams had a fake i.d. and did not complain she was the victim of a kidnaping T709.

Thomas Hill testified he is a forensic analyst for the Broward County Sheriff's Office T844. Over objection Hill was permitted to testify as an expert witness T851. Hill looked at shoe patterns recovered from the crime scene T854-55. A footwear impression was found on Albert Vassella's thigh T855. Hill opined that the pattern corresponded to a Tommy Hilfiger shoe T855. Over objection, Hill testified that a Tommy Hilfiger representative told him the pattern was exclusive to Hilfiger and not used by other companies T870-71. Another shoe pattern was found on the floor that clearly was not from a Tommy Hilfiger shoe T872.

Joshua Perper, the chief medical examiner of Broward County, testified he arrived at the crime scene on June 2, 2003 T891-895. Albert Vassella's face was covered with blood T896. There was a bloody pattern of a shoe imprint on his thigh T897.

Perper testified he performed the autopsy on Vassella on June 3, 2003 T898. The right side of his face was covered in dried blood T898. There were multiple bruises and scratches on the right side of his face T898. There were lacerations to the right ear and to the left and top of head T898. There was no fracture of the skull but there was a very mild subdural hemorrhage T898. There was bruising to different areas of the head T901. There were internal injuries to the neck - multiple fractures between the vertebrae T903. Bone fractures more readily occur in older people T903. Perper could not say the injuries were consistent with stomping by a foot T901. The injuries to Vassella could be caused by a woman T916. There were multiple bruises and abrasions of extremities T908. Perper could not say whether Vassella had defensive wounds T911.

Perper testified there were no injuries to Vassella's mouth or teeth T913. Vassella's facial lacerations could occur as the result of his head hitting the bookcaseT916. Vassella was 5'7" and weighed 160 lbs T913. The cause of death was

9

blunt force trauma of the head and neck T913. In Perper's opinion the majority of Vassella's injuries came from an assault T916.

James Hertzel of the Hollywood Police Department testified on May 31, 2003 there were 4 or 5 phone calls between Liz Boltos' residence and Albert Vassella's residence on May 31, 2003 T920. The records were introduced into evidence and showed 8 answered calls between the residences as follows:

Subpoena #:68909 ------ BellSouth #: BST0306S8199 ----- Page 32 06/10/03 17:48 CALL DETAILS FOR (954) 925-1741

Number	Date	Time	Calling No.	Called No.	Duration	Answered	Call Type
#1650	05/31/03	10:53	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1651	05/31/03	10:55	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1652	05/31/03	11:06	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1653	05/31/03	11:30	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1654	05/31/03	11:35	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	5	YES	001
#1655	05/31/03	11:58	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1656	05/31/03	11:59	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1657	05/31/03	12:07	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1658	05/31/03	12:40	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1659	05/31/03	12:41	954-367-0000	954-925-1741	2	YES	001
#1660	05/31/03	13:13	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1661	05/31/03	13:14	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1662	05/31/03	13:15	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001
#1663	05/31/03	14:08	954-925-1741	954-537-4748	1	YES	001
#1664	05/31/03	14:59	954-925-1741	954-922-6661	1	YES	001

R568. The last call was at 2:59 p.m. and the phone was answered T922.

Hertzel testified in a sworn taped statement to police Boltos never mentioned that her daughter had been kidnaped T928. Later in a television interview Boltos claimed her daughter had been kidnaped T929. Hertzel went back to talk to Boltos but she became uncooperative T929.

Leo Tennis testified Appellant never asked him for money to be with Sophia

Adams T957. Boltos asked for money for her daughter T960. Tennis refused T961. Later Tennis told Appellant that he was wanted for murder T961. Tennis told Appellant to stay in Chicago and he would surrender Appellant T963.

Appellant told Tennis that he had pushed Vassella because Vassella had a gun T969, 975-976. Appellant said that Sophia Adams hit Vassella T969. Appellant did not hit Vassella T975. Adams took \$25 from the house T974.

#### **DEFENSE CASE**

Appellant testified they went to Albert Vassella's house to get money for Sophia T991-92. Appellant was to stay across the street as Liz Boltos and Sophia Adams talked to Vassella T992. They had talked to him earlier that day on the phone T992. The plan was for Boltos and Adams to take Vassella to a restaurant T992. They would leave the back door open when they left T992. Appellant was supposed to go in the house and take money from a drawer and then leave T992. However, Boltos exited the house and told Appellant to get the car because they had to go to Dunkin Donuts T992. Vassella wanted donuts T992.

Appellant and Boltos returned T993. Vassella let Appellant in the house T993. Sophia and Appellant looked for money while Boltos talked to Vassella T993. Vassella saw Adams looking through a drawer T995. Appellant heard Boltos talking loudly T993. Appellant went to the front to see what was happening T994. Vassella was pointing a gun at Boltos T994. Adams was also talking T994. Vassella then pointed the gun at appellant T994. Boltos then pushed Vassella to the floor T1019. Vassella's face was bleeding T994. Vassella was dazed and did not know what was going on T1020. Boltos told Appellant to go back and to look for money T994.

Appellant testified he was scared and wanted to leave T994. Appellant told Adams he did not want to rob and wanted to leave T994. Adams agreed that it was getting out of hand T995. Adams and Appellant left Vassella's house T995. Appellant never intended any harm to Vassella T1015. Appellant did not kill Vassella T1015. Boltos killed him T1015. Adams and Appellant went to Adams' house and put their belongings in Appellant's truck T995. Boltos then arrived in her car T995. Appellant told her he refused to rob people and they were going to Chicago T995. Appellant testified he did not own Tommy Hilfiger sneakers T1011. Appellant did not tell Vassella that his car broke down T1010-11. Appellant admitted he was in the house do to a plan to steal money T1020. Even though Boltos told Appellant to search after Vassella was injured Appellant refused to do so because no one was supposed to get hurt T1021. Appellant did not know Vassella was hurt bad T1023.

Appellant acknowledged that he lied in statements he gave to police T1017.<sup>1</sup> Appellant testified he lied to police to protect Adams and her mother so he could be with Adams T1017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court ruled Appellant's statements to police were not admissible as substantive evidence and were only to be referred to for impeachment. Thus, the substantive content of the statements to police are not being referred to for the facts of the case.

#### PENALTY PHASE

The following facts are relevant to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

Benativo Capobianco testified he is a private investigator T1168. Capobianco testified appellant's family did not cooperate in giving him information regarding Appellant and family history. Appellant's natural mother, Sylvia Christie, asked Capobianco why he was bothering and said he was wasting cell phone minutes when he tried to talk about Appellant's childhood T1172. Capobianco went to her house in Columbus, Ohio, but he was not able to contact her and she didn't return his messages T1173. Capobianco talked to Leo Tennis, but Mr. Tennis had less comprehension than a five year old - everything went in one ear and out the other T1174. Capobianco only got a single statement regarding Appellant's childhood T1175. The one childhood memory was whereAppellant's friend talked him into tying him to a tree upside down and setting the tree on fire T1175.

Capobianco testified Appellant had somewhere between 22 and 25 siblings T1176. Tennis could name approximately 12 of his children but it is hard to tell if he knew the rest T1176. Tennis was unable to come up with any documents etc. showing Appellant had a childhood T1176. Tennis described himself as a gypsy judge T1178. The Gypsy King from Chicago, who is like the President of the United States to the gypsies, was going to ask the prosecutor and trial judge to turn Appellant over to their jurisdiction so they could punish him T1178. The only person who tried to help with mitigation was Appellant's stepmother and every time she tried to convey something she was always told to shut up T1180. Even after the guilty verdict Tennis asked if Appellant's sentence would break down to 15 years T1180.

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