IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-730

GABBY TENNIS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

.....

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 698271
Jason Pollack
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0022862
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

The State laid the proper foundation to qualify Hill as an expert who could render an opinion on which specific shoe pattern was consistent with the impression left on Vassella's body. To the extent that Tennis takes issue with Hill's remark that "[o]vertime you could sit and do the same thing," such a comment speaks directly to the level of experience required to perform such an analysis properly. Consequently, the trial court

did not abuse its discretion in allowing Hill to render an opinion in this case.

Tennis's claim that Hill was used as a conduit for hearsay is equally without merit. Tennis argues that the court should not have allowed Hill to relay what the Tommy Hilfiger representative told him. Tennis acknowledges the proposition that an expert may rely upon facts or data which are not otherwise admissible in forming his opinion, so long as the testimony does not become a conduit for hearsay opinions from other experts. Linn v. Fossum, 946 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 2006). The Tommy Hilfiger representative was not an expert but rather a spokesman who provided manufacturing information to the real expert, Hill. At no point did the State assert this person was anything to the contrary. Hill was merely testifying about a routine part of his investigation.

Q: Well, with regard to the, to the information provided by say Tommy Hilfiger to you, did you take that information and consider it in coming up with your opinions about this case?

A: Yes.

Q: And the information, the type of information that Tommy Hilfiger provided to you, is that typically relied upon in the field of footprint or footwear identification in your field?

A: Yes.

Q: What type of information, you indicated you asked Tommy Hilfiger if they supplied these soles to any other makers of shoes, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

•••

Q: ...Did you find this sole print on any other brand of shoe or even something very close to it other than Tommy Hilfiger?

A: No, sir.

Q: Based on your conversations with Tommy Hilfiger did you have any reason to look at any other manufacturers other than Tommy Hilfiger?

A: No.

(T.9 869-71). Clearly, the Tommy Hilfiger representative only acted as an agent of the company when he provided Hill with the information that no other shoe manufacturer used the same soles. There is no merit to this claim.

Even if it were error to admit Hill's testimony, the error is harmless in this case. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla.1986). Hamilton v. State, 547 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1989).

... The correct standard of appellate review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." [c.o.] The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the "harmless error" rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 and its . . . Reversal progeny.... of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole to ignore harmless and error, including most constitutional violations.

State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla.1984). In determining whether an error is harmless, the court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the comment did not contribute to the guilty verdict. Id. "In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994).

The evidence here overwhelmingly placed Tennis inside Vassella's residence at the time of the murder. Tennis himself did not deny he was present for the crime. He made self-implicating comments about his presence at the crime scene to detectives from the Hollywood Police Department, although he later denied the truthfulness of these statements. (T.11 997-999). Adams, his girlfriend and co-perpetrator, detailed how Tennis viciously used the heel of his shoe to repeatedly stomp on Vassella's face and neck. (T.8 730-36). The medical examiner's testimony confirmed that the trauma to the neck and head by the shod foot caused Vassella's death. Given the

abundance of the evidence linking Tennis to the foot print on the victim's body, the error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Points II & IX

THERE WAS NO ERROR WHERE TRIAL COURT DENIED ADMITTING THE STATE'S FACTUAL PROFFER OF SOFIA ADAM'S GUILTY PLEA NOR DID THE STATE TAKE INCONSISTENT POSITIONS WHEN DISCUSSING NATURE OF THE PLEA.

Tennis argues that the trial court erred by allowing the State to elicit Adams's guilty plea while denying him the opportunity to impeach her with the factual proffer she made at the time of her plea. Furthermore, he argues it was reversible error for the State to take inconsistent positions about Adams's truthfulness when discussing it at her sentencing and then in front of the jury here. The record shows, however, that the trial court's actions were appropriate and there is no merit to Tennis's claim. Additionally, Tennis failed to object to the State's position on Adams so this issue is not preserved. Since Tennis cannot prove any fundamental error took place, he is not entitled to relief.

The standard of review for a court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is whether it was an abuse of discretion. The admissibility of evidence is within the sound

discretion of the court and its ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604, 610 (Fla.2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 25 (Fla.2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 854 (Fla.1997); Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024, 1039 (Fla.1981); General Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136(1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse of discretion").

Under this standard, the Court's ruling will be upheld "unless ... no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 trial court." (Fla.1980); See Ford v. Ford, 700 So.2d 191, 195(Fla. 4th DCA 1997); Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla.2000), citing Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla.1990). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing the admission of the factual proffer into evidence as an impeachment device because this proffer cannot be considered Adams's statement. a general rule, it is error to permit a witness to be impeached with prior statements made by someone other than that witness. Instructive is Gross Builders, Inc. v. Powell, 441 So. 2d 1142, 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), in which the Second District Court of Appeals commented "We know of no authority, nor has any been cited to us, which supports the proposition that a witness may be impeached by the contradictory statements of someone else

which cannot, under any theory, be attributed to the witness."

Such a proffer is merely an assertion that, were the case to proceed to trial, the State would be able to prove the proffered facts. While Adams agreed to the proffer in order to secure the agreed upon plea arrangement, neither she nor the State made any representation that the proffer was her words. The trial court, thus, did not abuse its discretion.

Defendant's reliance on the general proposition that a co-defendant's guilty plea is not admissible when the defendant and co-defendant are alleged joint actors in the crime¹ is misplaced because it fails to acknowledge how this information was actually used in this trial. Here, Adams's guilty plea was relevant because it went to her credibility as a witness, not because it went to Tennis's guilt. From a tactical standpoint, the State chose to explain Adams's motives for testifying against him, a point that Tennis most certainly would have made during cross examination.

Q: And did you plead guilty in this case?

A: Yes.

Q: And what did you plead guilty to?

A: Second degree murder.

Q: And who was your prosecutor in your case? Who prosecuted your case?

A: You.

¹

United States v. Baez, 703 F. 2d 453, 455-456 (10th Cir. 1983).

- Q: So were the charges reduced to second degree murder?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And was there any condition based on the reduction of the charge, what, what promises, if any, were made to you?
- A: No promises. You didn't promise me anything.
- Q: Are you required to do anything in your case or any other case? What are you required to do for the change of charge or reduction of charge?
- A: Testify in this case.
- Q: And have you been sentenced?
- A: No.
- Q: Who is the judge in your case?
- A: Judge Lebow.
- Q: And is your sentencing still pending?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Until after you testify for the judge to hear you testify?
- A: Yes.
- Q: And can you tell the jury what you are looking, what's your understanding about what you are looking at in terms of a possible sentence in your case?
- 1. I know that Mr. Scheinberg is going to give a recommendation to Judge Lebow and
- Q: Do you know what that's going to be?
- A: Eight to ten years.
- Q: And do you know what, what you're looking at in total, how much time you may be looking at? Do you know what the maximum penalty for second degree murder is?
- A: Life.
- Q: Life in prison. And how old were you when this all took place?
- A: Sixteen.
- Q: Have I ever told you what to say in this case?
- A: No, sir.

(T.8 758-759). Tennis has not demonstrated any error by the trial court. The court did not abuse its discretion.

As mentioned above, Tennis's argument that the State took inconsistent positions in order to obtain his conviction and subsequent death is not preserved. He never specifically objected at the time the State allegedly took an inconsistent position. Because this issue is not preserved, the matter becomes a question of fundamental error, a standard that is clearly not met here.

"We first review the principles underlying the requirement to preserve error for review and the requisites for determining fundamental error, which may be raised for the first time on appeal. In general, to raise a claimed error on appeal, a litigant must object at trial when the alleged error occurs."

J.B. v. State, 705 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1998). "Furthermore, in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). This Court has explained that:

[t]he requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a

failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). The requirement of contemporaneous objection thus not only affords trial judges the opportunity to address and possibly redress a claimed error, it also prevents counsel from allowing errors in the proceedings to go unchallenged and later using the error to a client's tactical advantage. See J.B., 705 So. 2d at 1378.

The sole exception to the contemporaneous objection rule applies where the error is fundamental. Id. This Court has stated that "in order to be of such fundamental nature as to justify a reversal in the absence of timely objection the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960) (holding that the alleged error "did not permeate or saturate the trial with such basic invalidity as to lead to a reversal regardless of a timely objection"). Thus, an error is deemed fundamental "when it goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process." J.B., 705 So. 2d at 1378; see also State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993)(stating that "for an error to be so fundamental that it

can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process"). "The doctrine of fundamental error should be applied only in rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application." Smith v. State, 521 So. 2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1988); see also Hopkins v. State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994)(noting that "this Court has cautioned that the fundamental error doctrine should be used 'very guardedly'"). Fundamental error is error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1997) (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)).

Despite Defendant's assertions to the contrary, the State's case turned on a singular issue, his guilt. At no point did the State waiver from that stance; it consistently maintained throughout the trial that the victim's death came as a direct result of the actions by the Defendant. The crux of Adams's testimony was that Defendant killed Vassella.

During her sentencing hearing, the State voiced its concern that Adams was not being as forthright as she had promised about her mother's culpability.

And I have great concern that Sofia Adams is not telling the truth about the role her mother played in this crime. And it wasn't just a coincidence. And this Court has sat evidence through the and the generally. Sophia And Adams had obligation to tell the truth. And some power over her is I believe preventing her from giving that full truth about who set this up and motivated these younger defendants to go and attack and kill - I'm not saying her mother wanted them to kill him, but certainly the evidence and everybody believes, I believe, that this defendant's mother was a great motivating factor in them going to this 91 year old house. And I think the respectfully should consider that that lack of candidness on that factor is important.

(T.32 1645-46). The State expressed this suspicion not out of a desire to adversely impact Defendant's case, but out of a desire to have Adams adhere to her side of the plea bargain to tell the complete truth. Additionally, regardless of whether the State's suspicions were relevant to Tennis in particular, its position never changed about Boltos's involvement. During her testimony, the State repeatedly asked Adams if she was lying to protect her mother:

Q: Ms. Adams, I want to ask you about how -- again, I want to go back to how it is that you and the defendant found yourselves at Al

Vassella's, okay? Did your mother direct you there?

A: No, sir.

Q: Are you sure?

A: Yes.

Q: Was there any discussions with your mother about where, where a place is that you and Gabby could go to get money to, for Gabby to pay your mother for you?

A: No.

Q: Are you protecting your mother?

A: No.

Q: Are you sure?

A: Yes.

Q: If your mother was calling Mr. Vassella numerous times the day, the afternoon even up until 2 o'clock in the afternoon the same day that this happened, if she was calling him were you, were you there when she was making those calls?

A: No.

Q: Did you know that your mother would, would call first Mr. Vassella before she went and visited him, did you know that's how it worked with her and Mr. Vassella?

A: No.

Q: Did your mother make that phone call while you're there and, and to make sure Mr. Vassella was there at the house so you and Gabby could go over and do this?

2. No.

Q: Are you sure?

A: Yes.

Q: Are you trying to protect your mother?

A: No.

(T.8 759-60)(emphasis added). The prosecutor preserved a similar line of questioning with Boltos during her testimony. (T.7 668, 671, 689). There clearly is no error here.

Even if this Court were to find that the State took inconsistent positions relative to Boltos's culpability, that point is wholly irrelevant to the matter at hand. Reincorporating the harmless error analysis at the end of Point I, there is no disputing the fact that Tennis killed Vassella. There is no fundamental error here. This Court should deny relief.

Points III & VIII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS HIS ATTORNEY AND A FARETTA HEARING WAS NOT NECESSARY ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD. (restated)

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